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HISTORIC AMERICAN BUILDINGS SURVEY 1-C 

JACKSON STREET  SHOPS, 
STORE HOUSE HABS  No.  MN-67-C 

Location: 

Present  Owner: 

Present  Occupant: 

Present Use: 

Significance: 

Jackson   Street  and   Pennsylvania  Avenue,   St.   Paul, 
Ramsey County,  Minnesota. 

USGS   St.   Paul  East   Quadrangle,   Universal 
Transverse Mercator Coordinates:     Zone  15; 
491920.4878640;   492560.4878640;   492560.4878540; 
492300.4878540;   492140.4878400;   491920.3878400 

Burlington Northern  Railroad Company 
176  E.   Fifth Street 
St.   Paul,   Minnesota   55164 

Vacant 

Not   presently  in  use. 

The  Jackson  Street   Shops are  significant as 
Minnesota's oldest   existing  railroad   buildings. 
The  buildings were  built   for James J.  Hill's St. 
Paul, Minneapolis and Manitoba  Railway,  and were 
the   cornerstone  of  his great  railroad empire. 

PART   I.     HISTORICAL   INFORMATION 

A.       Physical History: 

1. Date of  erection;     1881-2.    Although the   Store House  is listed 
in Great  Northern Railway's Authorization  for Expenditure  (AFE) 
files  as  having  been built  in   1881,   a   report  of  the   shop's 
completion appears  Dec.   10,   1882   in   the   St.  Paul Pioneer  Press, 
as  well  as a   later memo   from GN's   President's  File #10505,   dated 
1955,   indicating an   1882   completion  date. 

2. Although no  conclusive   records  of   the  architect   for  the  Jackson 
Street   Store   House  are   available,   C.A.   Frost   is  believed   to be 
the architect   for   the   shops   themselves.     A draft National 
Register of Historic Places  nomination  done  by  the   State 
Historic  Presentation  Office,   lists   Colonel  Charles   C.   Smith as 
having  directed   the   design and   construction  of   the  stone 
buildings at   Jackson Street   Shops.     Colonel  Charles   C.   Smith  is 
noted   for his   famous  stone  arch bridge  In  Minneapolis,  which  is 
a  National  Civil Engineering  Landmark. 
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3. Original and subsequent owners:  The shops have had few owners, 
changing hands only due to mergings of railway companies which 
used the buildings.  1882 - St. Paul, Minneapolis and Manitoba 
Railway, with James J. Hill as president built the shops on land 
acquired in 1878. This line was renamed Great Northern Railway. 
Great Northern owned the property until 1970 when they merged 
with Northern Pacific Railway to form Burlington Northern 

Railroad Company, who now owns the shops. 

4. Builders, suppliers:  The stone used in the construction of the 
Store House is Minnesota Platteville limestone, from the nearby 
Mississippi River banks.  Many of the materials used in its 
construction were likely those on hand and owned by the 
railroad, and much of the labor was supplied in the same manner. 

5. All known original drawings of the Store House have been 
destroyed.  Some later drawings of remodeling projects are in 
the possession of Burlington Northern Railroad Company as well 
as some drawings from a section from 1895 and a floor plan from 
1920 showing the original mezzanine and stairway plan of the 
building. 

6. Alterations and additions:  The Store House has undergone 
several small alterations, and one major one, and an addition to 
the west end of the building. 

In-1911 several skylights were installed and are ..shown in plans 
from Burlington Northern, The lights were installed in groups 
of four with overall measurements of 15' x 8', using channel 
iron, and mounted with turnbuckle bars. 

Electric lighting was installed in 1924, consisting of 72 plain 
droplights, 7 Trojan fixtures, and approximately 40 switches. 
(AFE #26190) 

In 1927 the building underwent a major overhaul, which included 
remodeling of the interior, addition of an enclosed platform, 
addition of a new elevator, and several exterior changes. 

The remodeling of the interior consisted of new wainscoting in 
the offices, and painting and plaster work above that.  Also, a 
new section of flooring was laid between the first and second 
floors of 13/16" maple planking over Barrett's Tomb felt 
underlay, and some of the offices and restrooms received new 
asbestos tile floors.  A new 5'8" wide elevator shaft was 
constructed, which required a turn around pit to be made, and a 
mechanical housing to be built on the roof.  In the west end of 
the building the basement was to be converted to the new oil 
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house, 36' across, and 15'6" wide, to house 11 one gallon oil 
pumps.  New bathroom facilities were installed on the second 
floor, to create separate men's and women's rooms, and required 
a new window opening to be created. 

On the exterior, south side, west end, a window was removed and 
replaced with a door, resulting in some stone and mortar work to 
the wall.  In the east end a window and door were removed, and 
stone infill was used to cover, and another window was removed 
and replaced with a door. 

At the same time, on the north side, one door was partitioned 
with a 13" brick wall, and on the second floor a new window 
opening was created for the additional bathroom. 

To the west end of the structure, where there had previously 
existed a covered platform, a new enclosure was created by 
adding new girders and trusses and enclosing the new addition in 
2 1/2" corrugated galvanized steel, creating an additional 
storage room for the building.  (AFE #34016) 

After 1927 two other doorways on the north side of the building 
were filled with brick, leaving room for window openings.  Also, 
the concrete runways around the building have undergone at least 
two changes, in 1927, and again in 1949.  The skylights 
installed in 1924 have also been removed, and the roof patched 
where, they, existed. 

B.  Historical Context: 

The Jackson Street Store House was one of seven original stone 
buildings, built in 1882 for James J. Hill *s St. Paul, Minneapolis 
and Manitoba Railway, precursor of Hill's Great Northern Railway. 
Architecturally, the shops are significant in that they are the only 
railroad shops complex built of stone in Minnesota, and follow Hill's 
formula of only the highest quality and meticulous craftsmanship in 
all his endeavors. 

Hill was born in Canada in 1838, and came to St. Paul in 1856, and 
worked here as a riverfront clerk.  He took over the St. Paul and 
Pacific Railway at age 40 and immediately put into practice his 
expertise for business success, and his railroad, now the St. Paul, 
Minneapolis and Manitoba Railway went transcontinental in 1893. 

In St. Paul in 1893 the occupation of "railroad employee" was one of 
the largest groups in the city, and much of the housing owes its 
start to Hill and his railroad empire.  For other information about 
James J. Hill and his railroad see "James J. Hill" by Albro Martin, 
(New York: Oxford University Press, 1976). 
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PART II.  ARCHITECTURAL INFORMATION 

A.   General Statement 

1. Architectural Character: The Jackson Street Store House is a 
particularly handsome building, made of Platteville limestone 
from Minnesota, and has a gable roof of timber, covered with 
pitch and gravel.  Its design includes segmental arches over 
window and door openings on the main floor, and carried through 
on the "half-story" second floor as well. Walls are two feet 
thick and of unquestionable quality, and the 2/2 and 6/6 light 
arched windows give the building a warm character which is 
seldom found in modern industrial buildings. 

2. Condition of fabric: The building is in a state of rapid 
deterioration. The roof leaks badly, and the walls lean outward 
and need support. Most of the windows are rotted or missing and 
the structure has suffered at the hands of vandals and 
scavengers. 

B.   Description of the exterior: 

1. The overall dimensions are 40' x 389'-3" on the ground level, 
and 40f x 100' for the second floor, forming a one and a half 
story rectangular building.  There is a basement in the west 
end, inside dimensions 36' x 15'-6". 

2. Foundations:  Concrete or stone. 

3. Walls:  24" thick grey Platteville limestone laid in courses, 
with stone segmental arches at openings.  Irregular mortar 
joints average 1/2" thick.  Single belt course on north side at 
floor level.  Metal addition has galvanized corrugated steel 
walls, 2 1/2" corrugation. 

4. Structural system:  All stone walls are load bearing.  Roof is 
supported by timber beams and trusses.  Metal addition supported 
by framing studs, support beams, and a truss roof.  Support over 
window and door openings is provided by segmental arches, some 
of which have been knocked out and replaced by post and lintel 
doorways.  Timber cross members measuring 10" x 12" have been 
mortized into the stone exterior walls and support the second 
floor, on posts 10" x 10". 
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5.  Openings: 

a. Doorways and doors: The front doorway is on the east side 
and is recessed with stone segmental arch.  It measures 
4'-6" x ll'-O". A transom has been boarded up-  This door 
opens into the office portion of the building.  In addition, 
there is a door on the south side of the office/hallway area 
which was converted from a window in 1927, using the arch 
over the window, and measures 3*-0" x 7'-0". There are 
three freight doors on the south side, which vary in size 
and design due to changes, but are typically 8'-0" wide, and 
there is a 3*-0" x 7'-0" door providing access from the main 
Store House to the metal covered platform on the west end, 
and utilizes the segmental arch design typical of many of 
the other openings in the building.  This is a metal fire 
door. 

b. Windows:  Windows typically double-hung wood sash, with 6/6 
light sash used in the warehouse and larger 2/2 light sash 
for the offices. The typical window opening is 3'-3" wide, 
and 8'-4" tall for the large office windows, and 6'-3" tall 
for the smaller windows on first and second floor.  Stone 
segmental arches and over all windows, except two on the 
second floor which were created after the building was 
built. 

c. Other:  There is a small 2'-9" x 2'-9" opening on the south 
side of the building to  accommodate a fire extinguisher. 

Roof: 

a. Shape,   Covering:     The  roof  is  gabled  and   low pitched.     The 
angle changes   slightly from  that which covers  the  two-story 
section,   to  that  which covers   the  single-story section, with 
the  degree  of   pitch  being  less   steep  over   the  two-story 
sections.    The  roof was originally covered   in tar and 
gravel,   and   is  now covered with a modern   tarpaper composi- 
tion material.     (Rascher's   1891   Insurance  Map of  St.   Paul). 

b. Eaves:     The eaves  consist  of a   simple  overhang  that   is a 
continuation  of the   roof.     The   soffit  overhangs   24"  and has 
a   10"  facia. 
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c.  Tower:  There is an elevator penthouse on Che roof.  It 
measures 12'-8" x 6'-0", and is 6,-0" tall, with roof or 
equal pitch as the building, covered with mulehide #55.  It 
has a 2'-6" x 5' door and one window, 2'-2" x 3'-3", with 
four panes of glass. The housing is of wood and uses frame 
construction. 

C.  Description of interior: 

1.   Floor plans: 

a. Basement: The basement is in the west end of the original 
portion of the Store House. It is 15'-6" x 36' and houses 
pumps and oil tanks. 

b. First floor:  The entrance is at the east end and opens into 
an office area which is the main store office.  To the right 
is the storekeeper's office, and the office of the receiving 
foreman. Ahead to the right is a file room.  Straight ahead 
is a hallway, which leads to the stairway to the second 
floor, and the warehouse. To the right of the hallway is a 
washroom, and toilet room.  On the left is the elevator 
shaft.  Straight ahead is the main warehouse, with open 
space all the way to the back wall. This had been filled 
with rows of storage shelving on each side of a narrow aisle 
running the length of the Store House.  At the west wall is 
a doorway to the enclosed platform, which provides open 
storage space. 

c. Second floor:  The stairway to the second floor opens into 
the middle of the second floor.  To the right is a hallway 
leading to the office of Shop Accountant.  Just off from 
this office is a large file room ll'-O" x 22'-0".  The main 
hallway also provides access to the rest rooms, and then 
opens onto another large open storage area with more 
shelves, flanking a narrow aisle to the back wall.  On the 
left is the elevator shaft measuring 5'-8" x 8'-2". 

2. Stairways:  There are two stairways, a wooden stairway, running 
from basement oil house to first floor, and another wooden 
stairway between first and second floor which is painted grey. 

3. Flooring:  All floors are hardwood plank, of 13/16" maple x 
2-1/4" and have felt underlay.  Some floors in downstairs 
offices and bathrooms have been tiled over with asbestos tile, 
and the metal annex has a concrete floor. 

■ ■;*:, ■■■>*'*■  '.■"■ '.■•-"  '.■-"■» .*.■*■'   ' i *•■«*•      •'-.- ■. -'.V. *■**'.-*. i  -    ■ > •'*!,  •?..■-. •-..■ I «■ !-**f(> v» -i*-''--"; ,JH»** -.A.- --»--. ■  i *-i. ■..»■>•,» •'• v>.--*'-."'"-J^*,.»,V.. 



JACKSON   STREET  SHOPS, 
STORE HOUSE 
HABS No.  MN-67-C   (Page 7) 

4. Wall and  Ceiling   finish:     Walls  in   Che  offices, entry room and 
hallways on  both floors  are wainscoted in a  beaded  pattern and 
painted green or grey,   plastered and whitewashed above, 
including  the ceilings.     The  walls   in  the   Store House  are 
limestone and mortar,   and the  support timbers  are whitewashed. 
The walls  in   the  covered platform are  corrugated steel. 

5. Openings:     Doorways and  doors:     The  few doors exclusively on  the 
interior are   typically of wood.     They are  approximately  3'   wide 
and are  painted.     They  are not  decorative,   reflecting  their 
function of  industrial  service.     There  is a metal 3'  x 7'   fire 
door at  the west end between  Store  House  and covered  platform. 

6. Decorative   features:     Mainly,   the  beaded wood wainscoting  in 
offices measuring 42"  high. 

7. Mechanical  Equipment: 

a. Heating:     borrowed  steam heat  from Machine  Shop. 

b. Lighting:     consists  of plain  drop lights,   conduit wired 
including seven Trojan fixtures  installed  for the offices* 
(AFE #26190) 

D.       Site:     The  Store  House  is  situated at  the northernmost point  of  the 
yard,   next  to and   parallel   to  the   tracks   for  easy access   to loading 
and  unloading  rail  care.     It   runs  east   to west   lengthwise  and   lies 
directly north of  the  Car Shop and Wood  Shop. 

PART  III.     SOURCES  OF   INFORMATION 

A. Original Architectural  Drawings:     There  are  original drawings  of  the 
1927   remodeling of  the   Store  House  at   the Burlington Northern 
Railroad Company,   and also   plans   for  the   skylight   system and   sections 
showing  trusswork  in  the   Store House.     (DRAWINGS  No.   8521-1,   2,   9, 
17,   18,   19). 

B. Early views:     There  are   two   panoramic  views  of  St.   Paul  housed   in  the 
Minnesota  Historical  Society's map  library showing  the shops  and 
include  the   Store  House.     These are  an   1883  view by Henry Wellege  of 
The   St.   Paul-State  Capitol   &   County  Seat,   and  an   1888  view of   the 
same  area  published by the  J.H. Mahler Co.   from the  city of St.  Paul. 
In addition   to  these,   there   are  several   Insurance  and  real  estate 
plat  maps  in   the  map library  that  have  been helpful.    These are 
Hopkins Atlas of  St.  Paul,   1885;   Donelly's  1892 Atlas of  St.   Paul;   a 
topographic  map  from the U.S.   Geological   Survey dated  1896;   Rascher's 
Insurance  Maps   from 1891,   1903,  and   1956;   and   the  MHS Audio-visual 
collection contains a   photograph c.   1930   of  the  Store House. 
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PART  IV.     PROJECT INFORMATION 

This  project was prepared  as a class  project  for Architecture  5142, 
Historic  Building Research and Documentation,  a  class offered in  the 
school of Architecture and  Landscape  Architecture  at  the University of 
Minnesota,  Minneapolis,  Minnesota.     The class project was  prepared  under 
the  direction of Professor  Foster W.  Dunwiddie  and was  funded by a  grant 
from the  State Historic Preservation Office  of the Minnesota  Historical 
Society,   Saint  Paul, Minnesota.     Historical   data  compiled and measured 
drawings  prepared by Diane  M.   Cole and Gary  Sundin. 


